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Plaintiff, the State of Vermont (the "State"), by and through its undersigned counsel, 

hereby moves for an order freezing the assets of Defendant Ariel Quiros that will be unfrozen as 

part of the settlement of claims asserted against him by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

("SEC") for violations of federal securities laws. The State submits the following Memorandum 

of Law and Affidavit of Kate T. Gallagher ("Gallagher Aff. ") in support of its motion. 1 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW · 

After an exhaustive investigation by state and federal entities revealed that Defendants 

Quiros and William Stenger had perpetrated a massive fraud on individuals who had invested in 

EB-5 projects in Vermont, the SEC filed a civil enforcement action in the United States District 

Court for the Southern District of Florida, under seal, against Quiros and Stenger2 alleging 

violations of federal securities laws. Gallagher Aff. at 2. The SEC also sought an ex parte Order 

seeking, among other relief, a freeze on Defendant Quiros' s assets, which the District Court 

granted. Id. 

On the day the seal was lifted, the State, through the Commissioner of the Department of 

Financial Regulation and the Vermont Attorney General, filed this lawsuit against Quiros, 

Stenger and the Limited Partnership Defendants alleging violations the Vermont Uniform 

Securities Act (the "VUSA") and the Vermont Consumer Protection Act (the "VCPA). Because 

the Freeze Order ensured that the ill-gotten gains from Quiros's fraud would not be dissipated, 

transferred or concealed, and these funds would be available for disgorgement, the State did not 

seek entry of an order from this Court to freeze Quiros' s assets when it filed the Co~plaint. 

1 The Gallagher Affidavit attaches Declarations submitted in support of the SEC's motions for a 
temporary and preliminary restraining order and asset freeze. See discussion infra. 
2 The SEC also filed suit against the limited partnerships (the "Limited Partnership Defendants") and Jay 
Construction Management, GSI of Dade County, Inc., No1iheast Contract Services, Inc. (the "Corporate 
Defendants") and Q Burke Mountain Resorts, LLC as Relief Defendants. · 
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That situation has changed. On February 2, 2018, the SEC filed an Unopposed Motion 

for Entry of Judgments Against Defendants Ariel Quiros and William Stenger and For Court to 

Establish a Fair Fund (the "Motion for Entry of Judgment"). The proposed Final Judgment 

Against Defendant Ariel Quiros ("Proposed Final Judgment") submitted with the Motion for 

Entry of Judgment, provides that "upon receipt of confirmation from the Commission and the 

Receiver that Quiros has satisfied his obligations under Section I of this Final Judgment, the 

Asset Freeze [the Federal District] Court previously entered against Quiros (DEll, 238) shall be 

lifted and extinguished in its entirety." Id. at 3, Ex. A, at Ex. C. 

The State now moves for entry of an order freezing assets currently subject to the Freeze 

Order that will be unfrozen upon consummation of the SEC's settlement with Quiros. The entry 

of a freeze is fully warranted under Vermont's securities law because there is a strong inference 

that Quiros has violated the VUSA ~nd there is a reasonable concern that his assets will be 

transferred or dissipated unless frozen. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The EB-5 Program 

In 1990, Congress created a program known as the EB-5 Immigrant Investor Program, 

which made visas available to immigrants who would pursue a commercial venture in the United 

States and create employment opportunities for at least ten U.S. citizens. 8 U.S.C. 

§ 1153(b )(5)(A). To qualify in Vermont, a foreign investor was required to invest $500,0003 in a 

commercial enterprise approved by the United States Citizenship and Immigration Service 

("USCIS"). Id. Once an investor made the investment, he could apply for a conditional green 

3 If an EB-5 investor did not invest through a federally designated Regional Center, he was required to 
invest $1,000,000 to qualify for the program. AH investments in Vermont were made through a federally 
designated Regional Center. 
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card, which would be effective for a two-year period. Id. § 1186b(2)(1 ). If the investment 

created or preserved ten jobs in that two-year period, the investor could then apply to have all 

conditions removed from the green card, permitting him to live and work in the United States 

permanently. Id. at 1186b(d)(l). 

Phase I 

Jay Peak Resort is a ski resort located in Jay, Vermont, that has been in operation for over 

fifty years. Id. at 5, Ex. C, at 14. In 1972, a Canadian company, Mont-Saint-Saveur 

International ("MSSI") purchased Jay Peak, and in 1984 or 1985, it recruited William Stenger to 

run the company. Id., Ex. C, at 13-15. 

While owned by MSSI, Jay Peak took advantage of the EB-5 investor program to raise 

capital to improve and expand the resort. Id. at 4, Ex. B, at 3. In December 2006, Jay Peak 

began a $17 .5 million offering oflimited partnership interests in Jay Peak Hotel Suites, L.P. 

("Phase I") that would permit the construction of a new fifty-seyen-suite hotel. Id. at 6, Ex. D, at 

2. As part of the offering, Jay Peak agreed to act as the developer and contractor for the project. 

Id., Ex. D, at 4. 

When a potential investor was interested in learning more about the Phase I offering, he 

would deposit $10,000 into an escrow account at People's United Bank ("People's United''). Id., 

Ex. D, at 6. Then, the investor received a private offering memorandum (the "Phase I POM") 

that included a business plan and a limited partnership agreement. Id, Ex. D. 

The business plan included a document entitled Source and Use oflnvestor Funds. The 

Source and Use of Investor funds identified the total cost of Phase I and described with 

specificity how the funds could be used. Id., Ex. D, at 11. It also ·set forth the maximum amount 
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that Jay Peak could take in connection with the offering, including developer fees and 

contingency expenses. Id., Ex. D, at 11-12. 

The limited partnership agreement set forth the rights, obligations and responsibilities of 

the general partner and the limited partners. Id., Ex. D, at 16-20. Jay Peak Management 

("JPM"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Jay Peak, with Stenger as its President, would act as the 

general partner for Phase I, and would be responsible for the overall management and control of 

the partnership's affairs. Id., Ex. D, at 5. That control was not unfettered, however. JPM could 

not, without the express written consent of the limited partners: ( 1) borrow from or commingle 

investor fonds; (2) acquire any property with investor funds that did not belong to the limited 

partnership; or (3) mortgage, convey, or encumber partnership property that was not real 

property. Id. 

To complete the investment, the investor would deposit a total of $500,000 into the 

People's United escrow account, plus an administrative fee of $50,000, which was deposited into 

a separate account. Id., Ex. D, at 19. Stenger, as the President of JCM, was a signatory on the 

People's United escrow account for Phase I. Id., at 14, Ex. L, at 26-34. As set forth in the Phase 

I POM, once USCIS approved the investor's initial green card, the funds could be released from 

escrow and were available for use in accordance with the Phase I POM. Id., Ex. D, at 15. 

Phase II 

In March 2008, Jay Peak also began a $75 million offering of limited partnerships in Jay 

Peak Hotel Suites Phase II, L.P. ("Phase II"). Id. at 7, Ex. E. As set forth in the Phase II Private 

Offering Memorandum ("Phase II POM"), Phase II _would construct a multi-story hotel, 

administrative offices, a clubhouse and a waterpark. Id., Ex. E, at 2-4. Once again, Jay Peak 

would be the developer and contractor and JPM, with Stenger as its President, would act as the 
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general partner. Id., Ex. E, at 5, 13. The Business Plan also forth with specificity how investor 

funds were to be used and how much Jay Peak could take in fees and contingencies. Id., Ex. E, 

at 10-11. The limited partnership agreement contained the same limitations on the general 

partner's ability to borrow, commingle, or encumber funds, including the prohibition on 

acquiring property with investor funds that would not belong to the partnership. Id., Ex. E, at 17. 

Like Phase I, Phase II also maintained an escrow account at People's United on which 

Stenger, acting as the President of JPM, was a signatory. Id., Ex. E, at 19. Unlike Phase I, 

however, Stenger could access Phase II investor funds prior to USCIS initial approval of an 

investor's green card. Id. 

Use of Phases I and II Investor Funds to Purchase Jay Peak 

Sometime in 2007, MSSI decided to sell Jay Peak. Id. at 13, Ex. K, at 32-45. According 

to Quiros, MSSI and Stenger requested his help in finding a purchaser for Jay Peak and, after a 

deal with a potential Korean purchaser had fallen apart, requested that Quiros buy Jay Peak. Id, 

Ex. K, at 32-45. Quiros agreed to consider a deal and began negotiations with MSSI in January 

2008. Id. As part of this effort, he took operational control of Jay Peak and learned how the EB-

5 program worked. Id., Ex.Kat 39. 

By June 2008, Quiros had negotiated a Stock Transfer agreement with MSSI where MSSI 

agreed to transfer all of Jay Peak's assets to Q Resorts. Id. at 4 and 15, Ex. B, at 7; Ex. M, at 9. 

In anticipation of the closing, Quiros asked MSSI to open accounts for Phases I and II at 

Raymond James & Associates ("Raymond James") where his son-in-law worked as a broker. Id. 

at 5, Ex. C, at 94-98. MSSI agreed and opened Raymond James Accounts in the names of the 

Phase I and Phase II limited partnerships (the "MSSI Phase I and II Raymond James Accounts"). 

Id., Ex. M, at 17. On June 16 and 17, 2008, MSSI transferred $11 million in Phase I investor 
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funds from People's United to the MSSI Phase I Raymond James Account. Id., Ex. C, at 97; Ex. 

M, at 17. On June 16 and 17, 2008, MSSI transferred $7 million in Phase II investor funds from 

People's United to the MSSI Phase II Raymond James Account. Id. Prior to these transfers, 

there was no money in either the Phase I or II MSSI Raymond James Accounts. Id., Ex. M, at 

17. 

Quiros also opened two new accounts at Raymond James in the names of the partnerships 

(the "Quiros Phase I Raymond James Account and the Quiros Phase II Raymond James 

Account) prior to the closing. Id., Ex. M, at 2-3. Quiros was the sole signatory on these 

accounts. Id. 

Both Quiros and Stenger knew that applicable POM language prohibited them from using 

the EB-5 investor funds to purchase Jay Peale In fact, in a letter dated June 18, 2008, ·MSSI's 

counsel wrote to Raymond James, copying Quiros and Stenger and stated expressly that EB-5 

investor funds "could not be used in any manner, including as collateral or a guarantee, to fund 

the purchase of Jay Peak Resort." Id. atl 7, Ex. 0. 

Nonetheless, on June 23, 2008, the day of the closing, EB-5 investor funds moved 

through multiple Raymond James accounts, and ultimately were used to pay over $13 million 

towards Q Resort's purchase of Jay Peak. Id., Ex. M, at 13-26. First, MSSI transferred $11 

million from the MSSI Phase I Raymond James Account to the Quiros Phase I Raymond James 

Account and $7 million from the MSSI Phase II Raymond James Account to the Quiros Phase II 

Raymond James Account. Id., Ex. M, at 17, 23. Then, Quiros transferred $7.6 million from the 

Quiros Phase I Raymond James Account to a Raymond James Account in the name of Q Resorts 

(the "Q Resorts Raymond James Account"), an account on which Quiros was the sole signatory. 

Id., Ex. M, at 20. Next, Quiros transferred $6 million from the Quiros Phase II Raymond James 
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Account to the Q Resorts Raymond James Account. Id., Ex. M, at 25. Finally, Quiros authorized 

a wire transfer from the Q Resorts Raymond James Account to MSSI's attorneys' trust account 

("Spiegel Sohmer Trust Account"), in the amount of $13 .544 million as partial payment for Jay 

Peak. Id., Ex. M, at 26. 

After the June 23, 2008 closing, Q Resorts made additional payments towards the 

purchase of Jay Peak with investor funds. Id., Ex. M, at 48-79. Quiros authorized four 

addit{onal transfers to the Spiegel Sohmer Trust Account, totaling $5.5 million, towards the 

purchase price. Id. He also made three additional transfers to the law firm that had represented 

him in the closing towards the purchase price and to pay his attorneys' fees. Id. Each one of 

these payments was derived from investor funds. Id. 

Quiros and Stenger Initiate More EB-5 Projects 

After the purchase of Jay Peak, Quiros and Stenger initiated four additional EB-5 projects 

to expand and enhance Jay Peak resort. In July 2010, Jay Peak began a $32.5 million offering of 

limited partnerships in Jay Peak Pent~1ouse Suites, L.P. ("Phase III") to raise capital to construct 

fifty-five penthouse units and a mountain learning center, among other things. Id. at 8, Ex. F. In 

December 2010, Jay Peak began a $45 million offering of limited partnership interests in Jay 

Peak Golf and Mountain Suites ("Phase IV") to raise capital to construct fifty golf and mountain 

suites, a mountaintop cafe, and a wedding chapel. Id. at 9, Ex. G. In May 2011, Jay Peak began 

a $45 million offering of limite_d partnership interests in Jay Peak Lodge and Townhouses 

("Phase V") to raise capital to construct thirty vacation rental townhomes, ninety vacation rental 

cottages, a cafe and a parking garage. Id. at 10, Ex. H. In October 2011, Jay Peak began a $67 

million offering to raise funds to build an eighty-four-unit hotel, eighty-four vacation cottages, a 

guest recreation center, and a medical center ("Phase VI"). Id. at 11, Ex. I. 
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Quiros and Stenger also initiated a fifth EB-5 Project that was unrelated to Jay Peak 

resort. In November 2012, they began a $110 million offering of limited partnership interests in 

Jay Peak Biomedical Research Park, L.P. ("Phase VII). Id. at 12, Ex. J. This project involved 

the construction of a biomedical facility in Newport, Vermont, that would be used for several 

purposes, including the development and manufacture of artificial organs. Id. These organs 

included a heart lung machine call T-PLS, an artificial kidney called C-PAK and a liver 

replacement device called E-LIVER. Id. As noted in the Phase VII POM, these products.would 

require review and approval of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") before going to 

market, and an attachment to the Phase VII POM stated the TPL System was "currently under 

process of US FDA approval," and the C-PAK system was "currently under progress of US FDA 

approval." Id., Ex. J, at 10-13, 26, 27. According to the Phase VII POM, the facility would be 

operational and generating profits by 2013, based upon the scheduled development and testing of 

the products by January 2012. Id., Ex. J, at 13a. However, no one submitted the products to the 

FDA for review or approval. Id., Ex. N. 

Like the POMs for Phases I and II, the Phase III through VII POMs given to prospective 

investors included a business plan and limited partnership agreement; The business plans set 

forth with specificity how the funds for each Phase could be used. Id., Exs. F, at 7-8; G, at 6-7; 

H, at 6-7; I, at 6-7; J, at 6-7. The Phase III through VI POMs identified the general partners,4 

and Stenger acted as the President for each general partner. Id., Exs. F, at 4; G, at 8; H, at 5; I, at 

5. The Phase VII POM stated that AnC Bio Vermont GP Services, Inc. ("AnC Bio") would act 

as the general partner of Phase VII, with Quiros and Stenger as members of AnC Bio. Id., Ex. J, 

4 Jay Peak G.P. Services, Inc. was the general partner for Phase III, Jay Peak General Services Golf was 
the general partner for Phase IV, Jay Peak G.P. Services Lodge was the general partner for PhaseV, and 
Jay Peak G .P. Services Stateside was the general partner for Phase VI. 
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at 5. Once again, the PO Ms stated that the general partner would have overall control of the 

partnership business affairs. Id., Exs. F, at 9-12; G, at 8-11; H, at 8-10; I, at 8-11; J, at 14-17. 

And the limited partnership agreements again prevented the general partner from borrowing or 

commingling investor funds, acquiring with investor funds property that would not belong to the 

partnership, or mortgaging, conveying, or encumbering partnership property that was not real 

property. Id., Exs. F, at 12-13; G, at 12-13; H, at 11; I, at 11; J, at 17-18. 

Like Phases I and II, Phases III through VII each had escrow accounts at People's United 

where investors would deposit their $500,000 investment. Id., Exs. F, at 14-19; Ex. G, at 14-16, 

H, at 12-16; I, at 13-14, J, at 20-25. As with Phases I and II, the investor funds were then 

transferred by Stenger into Raymond James accounts in the name of each Phase, accounts on 

which Quiros was the only signatory. Id., Ex. K, at 55-57 60-63. 

Commingling of Investor Funds and Backfilling Funding Gaps 

Once investor funds from the various phases had been transferred to Raymond James 

Accounts on which Quiros was the only signatory, Quiros commingled investor funds and used 

them for purposes other than those permitted by the source and use of funds provisions for each 

Phase. Quiros routinely placed investor funds of one Phase into an account in the name of 

another Phase. Id. at 16, Ex. N, at 7-10. He also commingled investor funds from multiple 

Phases by pooling those funds in accounts held in the name of Quiros-related entities, including 

Q Resorts, JPM, OSI of Dade County ("OSI") and Jay Construction Management. ("JCM"). Id., 

Ex. N, at 7. For example, immediately upon taking control of the Phase I and II Raymond James 

Accounts, Quiros commingled Phase I and II investor funds in the Q Resorts Raymond James 

Account and used them to purchase Jay Peale Id., Ex. M, at 20, 25. 
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This commingling continued after the purchase of Jay Peak, allowing Quiros to use 

investor funds from later projects to construct earlier Phases. At Quiros' direction, $11.2 million 

of Phase II investor funds and $4.5 million of Phase III investor funds were placed in the 

Raymond James Q Resorts Account. Id., Ex. N, at 31. Similarly, at Quiros's direction, $34 

million of Phase IV investor funds, $36 million of Phase V investor funds, and $63 million of 

Phase VI investor funds were transferred to a Raymond James Account in the name of JCM (the 

"JCM Raymond James Account"). Id., Ex. N, at 37, 41, 45. 

Quiros has acknowledged under oath that he commingled investor funds and misused 

investor money raised through securities sales. In a pre-suit deposition taken by the SEC, Quiros 

admitted that he commingled funds between projects and used what he called a "one-window" 

approach to consolidate all investor funds in one place. Id., Ex.Kat 53-55. Quiros also testified 

that $21 million (of which the $18.2 million of AnC Bio investor money was a part) was 

"direct[ed] to Jay Peak ... because I had to pay down the margins at Raymond James and that 

the source of that money came from AnC Bio investors." Id., Ex. K, at 439-40. 

Use of Investor Funds as Collateral for Margin Loans and to Pay Margin Loan Interest 

When he opened the Quiros Phase I and Phase II Raymond James Accounts, Quiros 

signed credit agreements with Raymond James to allow these accounts to hold margin balances. 

Id., Ex. N, at 15-16. In this way, the accounts could borrow money and hold negative cash 

balances. Id. 

Almost immediately after taking control of the Phase I and II investor funds, Quiros 

incurred margin loan debts in the Phase I and II Raymond James Accounts (Margin Loans I and 

II). Id., Exs. M, at 28; N, at 17. On June 25, 2008, Quiros directed the purchase of $11 million 

in Treasury Bills, the same amount he had wired to MSSI's counsel as partial payment for Jay 

Peak. Id., Ex. M, at 29. At the time of this purchase, however, the Phase I Raymond James 
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Account only had $3 .4 million of investor funds left in the account, so the Phase I Raymond 

James Account incurred a margin loan balance of $7.6 million as a result of the purchase. Id. 

Similarly, on June 25, 2008, Quiros directed the purchase of $7 million in Treasury Bills 

for the Phase II Raymond James Account, the same amount that had been transferred from the 

Phase II account two days earlier to purchase Jay Peak. Id., Ex. M, at 3 8. Because Quiros had 

transferred $6 million out of the account prior to the purchase of the Treasury Bills, at the time of 

the purchase only $1 million remained in the Phase II Raymond James Account, and the Phase II 

Raymond James Account incurred a margin loan balance of $6 million as a result of the 

purchase. Id., Ex. M, at 39. 

After the initial purchases of Treasury Bills, Quiros continued to borrow against the 

margin accounts over the next eight months, and by February 2009, the combined margin debt in 

the Phase I and II Raymond James Accounts was $23.8 million. Id., Ex. N, at 17. On February 

6, 2009, Quiros consolidated the two margin loans into a new margin loan (Margin Loan III) and 

signed a new credit agreement that pledged Phase I and II investor funds as collateral for the 

margin loans. Id., Ex. N, at 17. He then entered into a series of Credit Agreements where he 

pledged additional investor funds as collateral for Margin Loan III. On October 1, 2010, Quiros 

entered into a Credit Agreement in which he re-pledged Phase II and III investor accounts for 

Margin Loan III. Id., Ex. N, at 17. On February 10, 2011, Quiros entered another Credit 

Agreement in which he pledged Phases III and IV investor funds as collateral for Margin Loan 

III. Id. On August 25, 2011, Quiros entered into a Credit Agreement in which he pledged Phase 

III through V investor funds and assets as collateral for Margin Loan III. Id. 

Beginning in February 2009, when he first consolidated Margin Loans I and II, Quiros 

used more than $105 million of investor funds from Phases I-V towards paying down Margin 
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Loan III. Id., Ex. N, at 18. Approximately $2.2 million of Phase I investor funds, $51.6 million 

from Phase II investor funds, $32.5 million from Phase III investor funds, $15.8 million from 

Phase IV investor funds, and $25 .2 million of Phase V investor funds were used to pay down 

Margin Loan III. Id., Ex. N, at 25, 28, 33, 36, 39. 

However, because Quiros continued to borrow against Margin Loan III, by February 

2012, the Margin Loan III balance remained at approximately $23 .4 million. Id., Ex. N, at 18. 

Therefore, on February 24, 2012, Quiros transferred approximately $22.2 million of investor 

funds that were pooled in the Q Resorts Raymond James Account to pay off the $23.4 million 

balance. Id., Ex. N, at 18. Approximately $16.6 million of these funds came from Phase V 

investor funds and $5.8 million from Phase VI investor funds. Id., Ex. N, at 39, 43. Then, four 

days later, on February 28, 2012, Quiros signed a Credit Agreement to open another margin loan 

account in the name of Jay Peak at Raymond James ("Margin Loan IV"). Id., Ex. N, at 20. In 

this Credit Agreement, Quiros pledged Phase V and VI investor funds as collateral for Margin 

Loan IV. Id. And in August 2013, Quiros entered into another Credit Agreement to pledge 

Phase VII investor funds as collateral for Margin Loan IV. Id., Ex. N, at 20. 

From February 2012 through March 2014, Quiros used over $6.5 million of investor 

funds from Phase V and VI towards paying down Margin Loan IV, but by February 2014, 

approximately $19. 4 million had been incurred on Margin Loan IV. Id., Ex. N at 21. After 

Raymond James demanded that Quiros pay off Margin Loan IV, on March 5, 2014, Quiros 

transferred approximately $18.2 million that was derived from Phase VII investor funds as part 

of a $19 million payment to Raymond James to pay off Margin Loan IV. Id., Ex. N, at 22, 48. 
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Use of Investor Funds and Margin Loans to Benefit Quiros and Affiliates 

In addition to misappropriating investor funds to pay down Margin Loans I-IV, Quiros 

also misappropriated investor funds and used the margin loans to benefit himself. Quiros used 

$7 million from Margin Loan IV to purchase Q-Burke resort from Coltaf Trust. Id, Ex. N, at 48. 

He used $4.2 million of Phase VII investor funds to pay a portion of taxes that JCM owed to the 

IRS and the State of Vermont. Id, Ex. N, at 50-51. And on April 12, 2013, Quiros transferred 

$3 million in Phase VII investor funds to GSI, which he used six weeks later to buy himself a 

Trump Place condominium in New York City. 1d, Ex. N, at 49. 

Around April 2015, Quiros also transferred approximately $10.7 million of investor 

funds as collateral for a personal line of credit with Citibank. Id, Ex. N, at 50. Quiros then used 

. $6 million from the Citibank line of credit line for his personal income taxes (filed jointly with 

his wife), approximately $1.4 million to pay "returns" to investors in earlier Phases and 

approximately $3.5 million to pay construction costs for Phase VI. Id 

The misappropriation of investor funds benefitted Quiros's affiliates as well. GSI 

received $6 million of Phase VII investor funds for land that Jay Peak was purportedly going to 

sell to Phase VII. Id, Ex. N, at 53. But this $6 million purchase price was wildly inflated. And 

more importantly, the alleged land sale was not recorded, so Phase VII did not own the land once 

it had made this $6 million-dollar payment. Id 

Quiros also paid $7.9 million of Phase VII investor funds to North East Contract 

Services, LLC ("NECS"), purportedly for construction supervision fees .. Id., Ex. N, at 52. 

William Kelly, Quiros's long time business associate was the President and only employee of 

NECS. Id, at 18, Ex. P, at 12, 18-20. At the time of these "construction supervision" payments, 

13 



little or no construction had occurred. Id., Ex. N, at 52. NECS then transferred approxim':1,tely 

$5 .5 million of these Phase VII investor funds it had received to GSI. Id 

Shortages Resulting from the Misuse and Misappropriation of Investor Funds 

As a result of this misuse and misappropriation of investor funds, by April 2016, 

insufficient funds were available to complete Phases VI and VII. Id., Ex. N, at 62. Phase VI and 

VII were short by at least $69 million. Id. 

RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY IN THE SEC ACTION 

On April 12, 2016, the SEC file? a civil enforcement action in the United States District 

Court for the Southern District of Florida, under seal, against Quiros, Stenger and the Partnership 

and Corporate Defendants alleging violations of federal securities laws. Id. at 2. The SEC also 

sought an ex parte Order seeking the appointment of a receiver and a freeze on Defendant 

Quiros's assets. Id. In support of its motion, among other things, the SEC filed Declarations 

from Louis Hebert and Louis Dufour, the owners of MSSI, which had owned Jay Peak; Michele 

Llama, an SEC accountant; and Mark Dee, an SEC accountant and Certified Fraud Investigator. 

Id. 

On April 13, 2016, the District Court appointed Michael Goldberg (the "Receiver") to 

administer the affairs of the Partnership and Corporate Defendants and take all necessary actions 

to protect investors. On April 14, 2016, the District Court, unsealed the documents, granted the 

SEC's motion, which included a ("TRO"), entered on April 12, 2016, restraining Quiros, his 

companies, and their officers and agents from "directly or indirectly transferring, setting off, 

receiving, changing, selling, pledging, assigning, liquidating or otherwise disposing of, or 
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withdrawing any assets or property ... owned by, controlled by, or in [their] possession, whether 

jointly or singly" (the "Freeze Order"). Id. at 19, Ex. Q, at 8. 5 

On May 9 and 10, 2016, the District Court held an evidentiary hearing on the SEC's 

request for a Preliminary Injunction. Id. at 20. The SEC submitted 141 exhibits in support of 

the motion, including a Report by Dr. Jan Jindra, Ph.D., a financial economist at the SEC. Id. at 

20, Ex. R,. It also presented testimony of five witnesses, including Dee and Jindra. Id. 

On November 21, 2016, the District Court granted the preliminary injunction. The Court 

reviewed the factual record at length and concluded "[t]he record supports a preliminary finding 

that Quiros was the architect of a fraudulent scheme to use investor funds to enrich himself." Id. 

at 21, Ex. S. The Court also found the "preliminary injunction [was] necessary to maintain the 

status quo pending a trial on the merits." Id. 

The parties then engaged in discovery, and on May 31, 201 7, Defendant served his sworn 

responses to the SEC's First Set oflnterrogatories. Id. at 22, Ex. T. In response to a request that 

he provide details of all assets he owned, whether held singly, jointly or through a corporation, 

trust or nominee, Quiros identified 28 properties. He also stated that he had bank accounts that 

were frozen at Citibank, Merrill Lynch, Wells Fargo (in the name of Tango Grill Holdings") and 

Davivienda International Bank in Columbia, although he did not set forth the balances of these 

accounts. Id. 

Ultimately, on August 22, 2017, Quiros entered into a Consent to Judgment of Permanent 

Injunction. Id. at 23, Ex. U. In the Consent Judgment, Quiros agreed to "a permanent injunction 

5 On April 25, 2016 the Court modified the Freeze Order and released $41,308.69 of funds jointly held by 
Quiros and his wife at Merrill Lynch. On May 27, 2016, the Court modified the Freeze Order to permit 
Quiros to sell or encumber the Setai condominium in New York with proceeds to be held in trust by the 
Receiver to cover $15,000 per month for living expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees. On October 
2016, the Comi further modified the Freeze Order to release $80,000 for attorneys' fees. 
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against violations of certain provisions of the securities laws, a conduct-based injunction against 

participating in EB-5 offerings, and an officer-and-director bar." Id. Quiros also agreed that the 

amounts of disgorgement, prejudgment interest and civil penalty would be determined by the 

Court at a future date. Id. 

Before the Court could determine the appropriate amount of disgorgement and other 

reliefrequired, on November 15, 2017, Quiros consented to Final Judgment against him, and on 

February 2, 2018, the SEC filed an unopposed Motion for Entry of Judgment, which publicly 

disclosed for the first time the terms of the agreement reached to resolve the case. Id., Ex. A. 

The Proposed Final Judgment orders that Quiros disgorge $81,344, 166, as well as prejudgment 

interest in the amount of $2,515,798 and a civil penalty in the amount of$1,000,000. The 

Proposed Final Judgment also provides that Quiros will satisfy the judgment by turning over 16 

parcels of real property, funds held in the Citibank accounts in the amount of $13 7, 773, and 

funds held by the Receiver in trust in the amount of $278,801. As a result, upon the 

consummation of the SEC settlement, the freeze will be lifted on 12 properties in which Quiros 

has an ownership interest, as well as Bank Accounts at Wells Fargo and Davivienda.6 

6 It is not clear whether any funds remain in the Merrill Lynch Account after the District Court's order 
allowing the release of funds held at Merrill Lynch. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE COURT SHOULD FREEZE QUIROS'S ASSETS TO MAINTAIN 
THE STATUS QUO AND PRESERVE ASSETS FOR DISGORGEMENT. 

The Commissioner of the Department of Financial Regulation may maintain a civil 

enforcement action when he believes that a person has violated the VUSA, and "upon a proper 

showing," a court may order "appropriate ancillary relief, which may include ... an asset freeze." 

9 V.S.A. §5603(b)(2)(A). As the Comments to the Uniform Act make clear, "the term 'upon a 

proper showing' has a settled meaning in the federal securities law," under Section 20(b) of the 

Securities Act of 1933. Accordingly, federal case law addressing the "proper showing" required 

to obtain an asset freeze is instructive when assessing whether an asset freeze is appropriate 

under Section 5603 of the VUSA. Mosley v. Am. Express Fin. Advisors, Inc., 230 P.3d 479, 485 

n.5 (Mont. 2010); State v. Schwenke, 222 P.3d 768, 771 n.2 (2009); see also Booth v. Verity, Inc., 

124 F. Supp. 2d 452,460 (W.D. Ky. 2000) ("To interpret provisions of Blue Sky Laws patterned 

after the Uniform Securities Acts, other state courts have looked to decisions construing parallel 

federal securities laws.") 

An order freezing a party's assets "merely 'assures that any funds that become due can be 

collected,' including disgorgement of profits, penalties ... and possibly prejudgment interest." 

SEC v. Gonzalez de Castilla, 145 F. Supp. 2d 402, 415 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (quoting SEC v. Unifund 

SAL, 910 F.2d 1028, 1041 (2d Cir. 1990), modified in part by, SEC v. Ducland Gonzalez de 

Castilla, 170 F. Supp. 2d 427 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (citations omitted); see also SEC v. ETS 

Payphones Inc., 408 F.3d 727, 734 (11th Cir. 2005) (asset freeze is a "means of preserving funds 

for the equitable remedy of disgorgement"). Consequently, to obtain an asset freeze, the State 

need only establish that an inference can be drawn that the party has violated the securities law 

and that there is a concern that a defendant will dissipate the assets. Smith v. SEC, 653 F.3d 121, 
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127-28 (2d Cir. 2001); Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1041; SEC v. Caledonian Bank Ltd., 145 F. Supp. 

3d 290, 301 n.11 (S.D.N.Y. 2015); Gonzalez de Castilla, 145 F. Supp. 2d at 205; see also SEC v. 

McGinn Smith & Co., 752 F. Supp. 2d 194, 205 (N.D.N.Y. 2010), vacated in part by SEC v. 

Wojeski, 752 F Supp. 2d 220 (N.D.N.Y. 2010) (SEC must "establish only that it is likely to 

succeed on the merits, or that an inference can be drawn that the party has violated the federal 

securities laws (quotations omitted)"; SEC v. Bvers, 08 CIV-7104 (DC), 2009 WL 33434, at *3 

(S.D.N.Y. Jan. 7, 2009)(same); SEC v. Heden, 51 F. Supp.2d 296, 298 (S.D.N.Y. 1999)(same).7 

And the government's burden8 to show the amount of assets subject to disgorgement and 

properly subject to a freeze is also light, requiring only a "reasonable approximation of a 

defendant's ill-gotten gain." ETS Payphones, 408 F.3d at 735 (citations and quotations 

omitted).9 

Here, an asset freeze is warranted because there is strong inference that Quiros has 

violated the VUSA and there is reason .to be concerned that assets will be dissipated in the 

absence of a freeze. 

7 A few comis have held that a likelihood of success on the merits is required. See, e.g. SEC v. 
Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 132 (2d Cir. 1998). Even if this heightened standard were to apply, the State 
easily meets this burden. See discussion infra. 
8 Because it is not an ordinary litigant but a statutory guardian charged with protecting the public, the 
government's burden to secure equitable relief is lower than that of a private litigant. United States v. Cty 
and Cnty of San Francisco, 310 U.S. 16, 30-31 (1940). 
9 Quiros is liable for the funds out of which he defrauded investors. See SEC v. Robinson, 2002 WL 
1552049, at *6-9 (S.D.N.Y. July 16, 2002). Therefore, a reasonable approximation of the amount subject 
to disgorgement is at least $156 million and as much as $350 million. Even assuming Quiros should be 
credited for the $81 million paid in disgorgement to the SEC, at least $75 million is still subject to 
disgorgement. 
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A. There is a Strong Inference That Quiros Has Violated the VUSA. 

The VUSA represents Vermont's adoption of the 2002 Uniform Securities Act, which was 

drafted by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. 10 See 2005 Vt. 

Acts & Resolves No. 11 ( enacted Apr. 28, 2005, eff. July 1, 2006). The "General fraud" 

provision of the VUSA states that: 

It is unlawful for a person, in connection with the offer to sell, the offer to purchase, 
the sale, or the purchase of a security, directly or indirectly: 

( 1) to employ a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; 

(2) to make an untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or 

(3) to engage in an act, practice, or course of business that operates or would 
operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person. 

9 V.S.A. § 5501. Thus, the VUSA creates three distinct types of violations: fraudulent schemes 

(Section 5501(1)), misrepresentations and omissions (Section 5501(2)), and fraudulent or 

deceitful courses of conduct (Section 5501(3)). The facts establish a strong inference that Quiros 

has engaged in conduct that violates each of these provisions. 

1. Fraudulent Scheme and Course of Conduct 

A defendant violates Section 5501(1) and (3) of the VUSA when in connection with the 

sale of securities, he or she, directly or indirectly, commits any manipulative or deceptive act or 

acts that are part of a fraudulent or deceptive course of conduct or are in furtherance of a scheme 

to defraud. SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 307 (2d Cir. 1999); SEC v. First 

IO National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws, Uniform Securities Act (2002; 
amended 2005), available athttp://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/securities/securities · final 05 .pdf. 
Because it is based upon a the Uniform Securities Act, the Vermont Legislature has directed that "[i]t is 
the intention of the general assembly that the official comments of the 2002 Uniform Securities Act be 
used to guide administrative and judicial interpretations of this chapter." Id. § 4. 
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Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1467 (2d Cir. 1996). 11 Scheme and conduct liability recognize 

that "[ c ]onduct itself can be deceptive," Stoneridge Inv. Partners, ire v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 

U.S. 148, 158 (2008), when it has "the principal purpose and effect of creating a false appearance 

of fact in furtherance of the scheme." SEC v. Capital Cove Bancorp LLC, 1_5-980-JLS, 2015 WL 

9704076, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 1, 2015). 

Courts have consistently held that the type of conduct that Quiros engaged in here can 

give rise to scheme or course of conduct liability. For example, in SEC v. China Northeast 

Petroleum Holdings Ltd., 27 F. Supp. 3d 379, 392 (S.D.N.Y 2014), the district court denied a 

motion to dismiss because the SEC "pled the existence of a larger scheme ... whereby defendants 

enriched themselves and their families at shareholder expense." Similarly, in In re Smith Barney 

Transfer Agent Litig., 884 F. Supp. 2d 152, 161 (S.D.N.Y. 2012), the court found that the 

"funneling of [money] away from" investors were deceptive acts committed in addition to any 

misleading statements. And in SEC v. Farmer, 4:14-CV-2345, 2015 WL 5838867, at *15 (S.D. 

Tex. Oct. 7, 2015), the district court held that the use of "sham transactions," is "inherently 

deceptive conduct" which is actionable as a fraudulent scheme or course of conduct. 

The facts here create a strong inference that Quiros orchestrated and profited from a 

complex scheme to gain exclusive control over investor funds, in violation of Sections 5501 (1) 

and (3). After assuming pre-closing functional control over Jay Peak in January 2008, Quiros 

was able to direct the June 2008 wrongful transfers of Phase I and II investor funds from escrow 

accounts at People's United into Raymond James brokerage accounts controlled by Quiros and 

11 As the comments to the Uniform Act make clear, the State does not need not to prove that Quiros 
culpably participated in the scheme or course of conduct because "no culpability is required to be pied or 
proven." Unif. Sec. Act § 501 cmt. 6. 
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his company, Q Resorts. Quiros then wrongfully directed that these Phase I and II funds be u_sed, 

in a series of payments, to purchase Jay Peak for his sole benefit, despite being previously 

admonished by the seller's counsel that this would be a misuse and misappropriation of investor 

funds. 

Quiros continued his scheme by misusing and misappropriating investor funds raised in 

the five subsequent securities offerings that he and Stenger initiated. Although Stenger acted as 

the general partner for six of the seven limited partnerships, in reality, Quiros took full control of 

all limited partnership funds when Stenger moved investor funds from the project-specific 

escrow accounts to Raymond James brokerage accounts held in the name of the corresponding· 

limited partnerships that were controlled exclusively by Quiros. 

In fact, the Phase III through VII offerings themselves were an integral part of 

Defendants' scheme to defraud investors by using the investor funds in later projects to cover the 

shortfalls of other projects and for Quiros' s personal benefit. By raising new money, Quiros kept 

construction going at Jay Peak and created a false appearance that investor funds were only 

being used for their intended and authorized purposes when, unlmown to investors, Quiros was 

improperly siphoning off millions in investor funds for his personal enrichment, in part by 

creating and paying false invoices for construction that never occurred. 

Each of Quiros's deceptive acts were committed in connection with" the purchase or sale, 

or the offer to purchase or sell securities. The "in connection with" requirement is construed 

broadly and flexibly to effectuate the remedial purposes of the federal securities laws. First 

Jersey Sec., 101 F.3d at 1466 (quoting Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 

(1972)). Therefore, fraudulent activity meets the "in connection with" requirement ... whenever it 

'touches' or 'coincides' with a securities transaction." SEC v. Pirate Investor LLC, 580 F.3d 
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233, 244 (4th Cir. 2009) (quoting, respectively, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. 

Dabit, 547 U.S. 71, 85 (2006) and Superintendent of St. N. Y v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 

U.S. 6, 12-13 (1971)); see also Romanov. Kazacos, 609 F.3d 512, 521-22, n.5 (2d Cir. 2010) 

("The 'coincide' requirement is broad in scope" and is satisfied "where plaintiffs claims 

'necessarily allege,' 'necessarily involve,' or 'rest on' the purchase or sale of securities" or 

"where plaintiffs allegations 'depend' upon transactions in securities") (internal citations 

omitted); In re Franklin Mui. Funds Fee Litig., 388 F. Supp. 2d 451, 472 (D.N.J. 2005) ("[T]he 

only way for this scheme to succeed was for investors to purchase securities"); Alley v. Miramon, 

614 F.2d 1372, 1378 n. 11 (5th Cir.1980) ("[T]he 'in connection with' test ... is satisfied when 

the proscribed conduct and the sale are part of the same fraudulent scheme."). 

When securities fraud liability is premised upon a fraudulent scheme to misappropriate 

the proceeds of securities sales, "[i]t is enough that the scheme to defraud and the sale of 

securities coincide." SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 822 (2002). In Zandford, "the Supreme 

Court held that the [in connection with] requirement was satisfied where a broker who had 

investment authority over a client's account sold the securities in the account and pocketed the 

sales proceeds." In re JP. Jeanneret Assoc., Inc., 769 F. Supp. 2d 340, 361 (S.D.N.Y. 2011). 

"While the fraudulent conduct alleged [in Zand/ord]-misappropriation of the proceeds of 

securities sales-was not the direct result of a purchase or sale, the broker's scheme to defraud 

'coincided' sufficiently with the actual (and completely legitimate) sale of those securities to 

satisfy the 'in connection with' requirement." Id. 

Likewise, in this case, Quiros's scheme to defraud EB-5 investors by misappropriating 

and misusing the proceeds of the Phases I through VII securities sales sufficiently "coincides" 

with these securities sales. These securities sales-including the Phase I offering, which was not 
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complete before Quiros assumed functional control of Jay Peak in January 2008-were a 

necessary predicate to Quiros' s scheme because without these securities sales and their proceeds, 

the scheme would have lacked a purpose and a means to sustain itself. Courts have held that 

when a fraudulent scheme depends on securities sales to exist and function, then the scheme is 

"in connection with" these securities sales. See Pirate Investor, 580 F.3d at 245 (in evaluating 

whether the "in connection with" is satisfied, "[ w ]e first consider whether a securities transaction 

was necessary to the completion of the fraudulent scheme"). Thus, Quiros's commingling, 

misappropriation, and misuse of Phase I through VII investor funds was "in connection with" 

securities transactions and constitutes a scheme to defraud, a series of deceptive acts, and a 

deceptive course of conduct under Sections 5501(1) and (3) of the VUSA. 

2. Misrepresentations and Omissions 

Section 5501(2) of the VUSA generally prohibits any person from "directly or 

indirectly ... mak[ing] an untrue statement of a material fact or ... omit[ting] to state a material 

fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading." A person can be liable under Section 5501 (2) for making an 

untrue statement if he is the "person ... with ultimate authority over the statement," Janus Capital 

Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 142 (2011), and makes a statement that 

was "untrue at the time it was made." City of Westland Police and Fire Ret. Syst: v. MetLife, Inc., 

129 F. Supp. 3d 48, 67 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). A person can also be liable for failing to state a fact 

when the person has a duty to disclose the omitted facts, such as where disclosure is necessary to 

"avoid rendering existing statements misleading." Id.; see also In re Time Warner Inc. Sec. 

Litig., 9 F.3d 259, 268 (2d Cir. 1993),· Glazer v. Formica Corp., 964 F.2d 149, 157 (2d Cir. 

1992). 
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Generally, a fact is "something that is demonstrable as being true or false," but "the 

securities laws do not impose an absolute bar to liability for statements of opinion or belief. City 

Westland, 129 F.3d at 68; see also In re IBM Corp. Sec. Litig., 163 F.3d 102, 107 (2d Cir. 1998) 

("Statements that are opinions or predictions are not per se inactionable under the securities 

laws."). Rather, opinions can be actionable because every statement of opinion "explicitly 

affirms one fact: that the speaker actually holds the stated belief." Omnicare Inc. v. Laborers 

Dist. Council Const. Indus. Pension Fund, 135 S.Ct. 1318, 1326 (2015). Similarly, projections 

of future performance can run afoul of the VUSA where the speaker does not genuinely and 

reasonably believe his projection. In re IBM Corp. Sec. Litig., 163 F.3d at 107. 

The untrue statement or omission must be material in light of the circumstances existing 

at the time of the statement or omission. Ganino v. Citizens Utils. Co., 228 F.3d 154, 165 (2d 

Cir. 2000). A fact is material if "there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would 

view it as significantly altering the 'total mix' of information available." United States v. 

Cuisimano, 123 F.3d 83, 88 (2d Cir. 1997) (citing Basic Inc. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 

(1988)). Misrepresentations about the use of investor funds and diversion for personal gain are 

clearly material. SEC v. Research Automation Corp., 585 F.2d 31, 35-36 (2d Cir. 1978) 

(misleading statements and omissions about the use of investor funds were material as a matter 

of law); SEC v. Benson, 657 F. Supp. 1122, 1130-31 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (misuse of proceeds for 

undisclosed compensation was material). 

Quiros, as a member and owner of AnC Bio, the General Partner for Phase VII, is a 

maker of the statements in the Phase VII POM, which is replete with false material statements. 

Most egregiously, the Phase VII POM stated that the artificial organs that would be 

manufactured were "currently under process of U.S. FDA approval" and "currently under 
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progress of US FDA approval," when, in fact, the Defendants had not submitted any device to 

the FDA for review, let alone approval. Id. 

Worse yet, even though the products had not been submitted to the FDA for approval, 

and Quiros knew approval could take years, the Phase VII POM projected that the facility would 

be operating by April 15, 2014 and would generate revenue of more than $659,800,208 between 

2013 and 2018. But this projection was utterly baseless because it was premised on a 

development and starting date of January 2012, a deadline that was objectively impossible to 

meet, given that the product had not even been submitted to the FDA. Id., Ex. R. 12 And these 

baseless assertions were certainly material, given that an investor's funds must be used to create 

a certain number of jobs within a limited amount of time. Accordingly, there is a strong 

inference that Quiros has violated § 5603(2). 13 

B. There is Reason to Believ~ Assets Will be Dissipated in the Absence of a Freeze. 

The State is reasonably concerned that Quiros' assets will be dissipated in the absence of 

a freeze. Indeed; an asset freeze is particularly warranted where, as here, a defendant's past 

conduct "involve[ d] fraud, [particularly] a scheme to funnel and conceal illegal profits through 

nominees and affiliates." SEC v. Spongech Delivery Syst., 1 O-CV-2031 (DLI), 2011 WL887940, 

12 The misrepresentations were made "in connection with" the sale of securities. "Wh 1 ere the fraud 
alleged involves public dissemination in a document such as a press release, annual report, [or] 
investment prospectus," the requirement is easily met. SEC v. Rana Research, Inc., 8 F.2d 1358, 1362 
(9th Cir. 1993); see also Semerenko v. Cendant Corp., 223 F.3d 165, 176 (3d Cir. 2000) ("[W]here the 
fraud alleged involves the public dissemination of information in a medium upon which an investor 
would presumably rely, the 'in connection with' element may be established by proof of the materiality of 
the misrepresentation and the means of its dissemination."). 
13 While the State has focused on Quiros's direct misrepresentations, there is also a strong inference 
that Quiros, as a control person, violated the VUSA as a result of the misrepresentations contained in the 
Phase I through VI PO Ms, including the misrepresentations about the uses that would be made of the 
investor funds and the control that would be exercised by the general patiners. Quiros may also be liable 
as an aider and abettor. 
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at *8-9 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 14, 2011). Quiros has acknowledged in his interrogatory response, he 

has properties and bank accounts abroad, making the dissipation of assets more likely. SEC v. 

Aragon Capital Advisors, LLC, 07-CIV 919 (FM), 2001 WL 3278642, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. July 26, 

2011) ( concern that defendants will dissipate assets is "satisfied when a defendant is a citizen 

and resident of a foreign country and holds accounts at foreign banks"). While not a citizen, 

Quiros has strong ties to South Korea, and approximately $8 million in investor funds were 

funneled to South Korean entities, purportedly for patents, equipment and distribution rights, 

none of which were received. Id., Ex. P, a~ 89. In fact, in a memo prepared by Alex Choi, a 

Korean business with longstanding ties to Quiros, he outlined how he and Quiros intended to 

distribute the investor funds in AnC Bio, with $10 million going to Choi. Id. at 24, Ex. V. When 

asked about his meeting with Choi, which is memorialized by the memo, Quiros took the Fifth 

Amendment. Id. 

In addition, at least one creditor has already sought to intervene in the federal action to 

attach Quiros's personal property to satisfy amounts owing to it on a lease. Such efforts by 

creditors and investors after the Freeze Order is dissolved can reasonably be expected, even if the 

Receiver does set up a process for the payment of creditors and investors. Accordingly, there is 

a reasonable concern that his properties and funds will be mortgaged, sold or transferred in the 

absence of a freeze. 

CONCLUSION 

There is a strong inference that Quiros has violated the VUSA and that absent a freeze, 

his assets may be dissipated, transferred or concealed. Accordingly, the State respectfully 

requests that this Court grant the State's motion for an asset freeze. 
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DATED at Montpelier, Vermont this 13th day of February 2018. 
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